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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

No.1514110

Agency Docket NOARB 13-076

HARLEY MARINE SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner
versus
U.S.DEPARTMENT OF LABOR,
ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW BOARD,
JOSEPH D. DADY Captain
Respondents

Petition for Reviewof a Decisionof the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration

(January 26, 2037

Before WILSON and JULIE CARNES, Circuit Judges, AMEADWELL,”
District Judge.

Honorable Marc T. Treadwell, United States District Judge for the Middteidisf
Georgia, sitting by designation.
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PER CURIAM:

Pursuant tal9 U.S.C. 81105(d)Harley Marine Services, In¢Harley)
seeks reviewof the Secretary of Labor’s final ordératHarleyterminatedhe
employment of Captain Josepladyin violation ofthe Seaman’s Protection Act
(SPA), 46 U.S.C. 82114 After thorough review andith the benefit of oral
argument, th&ecretarls determinations affirmed

l.

Dady was a tug captain for HarléyOn October 12, 2010, Dadyisate ran
thebargethey were towingnto adock anallisionin maritime terminology,while
Dady was asleep and effatch The mate, as well as the rest of Dady’s crthen
failed totimely reportthe allisionto Dadyor Harley When Dadyater towedhe
now oil-ladenbarge outo seathe bargdegan to takenwater due to a puncture
fromthe allision. This is when Dady first learned of the allisiadyfollowed
procedure upon learning of the allision, and the barge awesis

Harleysent an investigator, Captain Graham, to determine the reason the
allision had not been timelgeported. Graham determined that even though Dady
was asleep and effratch, he should be held responsible for the failure to report

and should bdischargedwhich Harley promptly did

! The facts are taken from tieministrative Law Judge’s decisioLJ Decision HMS App.

Vol. I. They are supported by substantial evidence.

2 An “allision” is “[t] he contact of a vessel with a stationary object such as an anchored vessel

or a pier.” Allision, Black’s Law Dictionary10th ed. 2014).
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Dadyfiled a whistleblower complaint with the Occupational Safety and
Health Administrationalleging that he had been terminated in retaliation for
engagingn activities protected by the SPA. OSHifsagreedandDady filed an
objection and requested a hearbgforean administrative law judgeAfter a
threeday evidentiary hearing, thd_J agreed with Dady and ordered his
reinstatement. Harley appealedhe Administrative Review Board (ARB), which
affirmed.

On appeal, Harley argu#sat the ARB erred in concludirigat (1)
substantial evidence supported the ALJ’s finding that Harley khat\Dady
engaged iprotected activity(2) substantial evidence supported the ALJ’s finding
thatprotected activityontribued to the termination of Dady’s employment; (3)
substantial evidence supported the ALJ’s findimagHarley did not prove by clear
and convincing evidence that it would have fired Dady regardless of the protected
activity; and(4) that reinstateent was an appropriate remedy.

I.

Under the Administrative Procedure Act, vaviewwhetherthe Secretary’s
“actioris], findings, and conclusiohsre“arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with.Tatv U.S.C. 8706(2)(A) On an
appeal following an evidentiary hearirtgis means “[w¢ conductle novareview
of the Secretary of Lab@’legal conclusns, but we test the Secretaryactual
findings for substantial evidencei’the agency recordStone & WebsteConst.,
Inc. v. U.S. Dejt of Labor, 684 F.3d 1127, 1132 (11th Cir. 20;12ee5 U.S.C.

8 706(2)E); see alsAtlanta Gas Light Co. \FERC 140 F.3d 1392, 1397 (11th
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Cir. 1998)(noting that the substantial evidence standertho more than a
recitaion of the application of théarbitrary and capricioustandard to factual
findings’ (quotingMd. People’s Counsel v. FERZ61 F.2d 768, 774 (D.Cir.
1985)); Assn of Data Processing Serv. Orgbkic. v. Bd. of Governors dfe Fed.
Reserve Sys745 F.2db677, 684 (D.C. Cir. 1984) The distinctive function of
paragraph (E}-what it achieves that paragraph (A) does-stto require
substantial evidence to be fouwtthin the record of closeckcord proceedingto

which it exclusively appliey).

Substantibevidence is “more than a mere scintilldt
means such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might
accept as adequate to support a conclusiohus,
substantial evidence exists even when two inconsistent
conclusions can be drawn from the same evidefithe
substantial evidence standard limits the reviewing court
from *“deciding the facts anew, making credibility
determinations, or reveighing the evidence.”

Stone & Webster Const., 1n684 F.3dat 1133 (citations omitted).
[l.

There are four elements to Dad$PRA retaliatiorclaim: (1) Dady engaged
in protected activity(2) Harleyknew of the protected activity3) Dady suffered
an adverse employmeacttion and(4) the protected activity contributed to the
adverse employmeaiction See46 U.S.C. 114 49 U.S.C. 88 31105(h)
42121(b)*> An employer can defeah&PAclaim by demonstratingy clear and

® Inrelevant part46 U.S.C. § 2114 provides:

A person may not discharge or in any manner discriminate
against a seaman because . . . the seaman in good faith has reported
or is about to report to the Coast Guard or other appropriate
Federal agency or department that the seaman believes that a

4
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convincing evidence that the employer would have taken the same personnel action
in the absence dhe protected activityld.
V.
A. Harley’s Stipulation of Protected Activity
Harleystipulated before the ALJ that Dady engageprotected activity.
As the ALJ explaineth his order

[Harley] stipulated that it does not contest the issue of
protected activity.[Harley] listed, at RX 24 (Corrected),
the only protected activity it understogbady] to be
alleging: (1)[Dady]' s direct complaint in January 2009
to the U.S. Coast Guard th@tHarley] dumped raw
sewerage in New York Harbor; (2) steering failure in
April 2010; (3) report regarding issues with QMs in May
2010; (4) and[Dady]s request to a local union
representative to complain to the Coast Guard in Seattle
about hadequate crewg of [Harley]'s vessel. | accept
that the four activities above constitute protected activity.
[Dady] clarified, at the hearing, that the subject matter of
the fourth protected activity stipulated —tamproper

violation of a maritime safety law or regulation prescribed under
that law or regulation has occurred].]

A seaman alleging discharge or discriminationviolation of
subsection (a) of this section, or another person at the seaman's
request, may file a complaint with respect to such allegation in the
same manner as a complaint may be filed under subsection (b) of
section 31105 of title 49. Such complaint shall be subject to the
procedures, requirements, and rights described in that section,
including with respect to the right to file an objection, the right of a
person to file for a petition for review under subsection (c) of that
section, and the requirement to bring a civil action under
subsection (d) of that section.

46 U.S.C. § 2114(a)(1)(A), (b).
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crewing—includes both improper lookout andlations

of the 12hour work rule. SeeTr. at 215. [Harley’s New
York General Manager] testified that it was his
understanding that improper lookout is a subset of the
manning issueld. at 746.

ALJ Decisiorat 30, HMS App. Vol. I.
In its posttrial briefing, Harley appeared to back away from its stipulation of

protected activity, an effort the ALJ noted and rejected

[Harley] repeatedly raes thequeston of whetherthe

proteded activities actually toolplace (e.g “Captain
Dady appeared to testify thae reported[the incident
related tosewagelo the Coast Guardt some _unknown
time, but the record contains no othr proof in this

regad.” Pcstrial Brief at 1012 (emplasis inoriginal)).

However, since [Harley] stipulated to the protected
activities, theywill be presmed to have takeplacefor

the purposef analyzing employer kowledge.

Id. at30 n.4.

Harley seems to resurrdbis strategyon appeal, arguing in its briefs that it
“stipulatedonly that element (1) wasatisfied—that [Dady] engaged in protected
activity,” but that “[w]ith respect to [Dady]'allegationsof protected activity,

[Harley] did not stipulate to any ‘assertions made thereirlMS Opening Brieht

14. Indeed, many of Harley’s arguments in its briefs and at oral argument weave
in assertions that Dady did not engagéhimstipulatedprotected activitiessubtly
challengng the ALJ'sinterpretatiorof the stipulation. Abral argumentwhen

asked teexplainits position on this issue, Harleyaintained thathe ALJabused

his discretion when, for example, benclucdthat Harley had stipulated that
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Dady’s protected activitincluded complaining to the Coast Guard about improper
or inadequaterewingon Harley’s boats The Court disagrees.

In a letter date@February20, 2013, Harley stipulated: “For purposestbafs
matteronly, . . . that elemen{l) Protected Activityis satisfied, meaning that it
will not challenge that element (that the complainant engaged in protected
activity). By so stipulating [Harley] is not affirming that any of the alleged
protected activity was correct in any assertions made therein, or otherwise even
occurredfor purposes outsidiis matter’ Stipulation LetterHMS App. Vol. |
(emphasis added)Harleyoffered no clarification when éntered the stipulation
on the record at trialSeeALJ Tr. 14:1319, HMS App. Vol. I.

The ALJ reasoably interpreted Harley’s stipulation. Indeed, no other
interpretation makes sense. Harley stipulated in “this mattatDady engaged in
protected activity, thus relieving Dady lmis burdento prove that he had. Thus,
when the ALJ moved to the second element of Dady’s claim, employer knowledge,
the question the ALJ addressed was whether Harley had knowledge of the
stipulated protected activity. Under the interpretation of the stipulation urged by
Harley, Dady, to prove employer knowledge, would havirst prove that he had
engaged in the same protected activity that Harley had stipulated to for the purpose
of the first element dbady’sclaim. Clearly,thisinterpretation renders the
stipulation meaningless. In short, Harley’s stipulation that Dady engagésl in

“allegedprotected activity in “this matter” established exactly that.
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B. Employer Knowledgeand Contributing Factor

Given that the ALJ properly interpreted Harley’s stipulation of protected
activity, the question of whether Dady established the remaining elements of his
claim is straightforward Substantial evidencsupports th&ecretarigs conclusion
thatHarleyknewof Dady’s stipulated proteetl activities, most particularly
Dady’sinadequate crewing complaintsttee Transportatio®afety Advisory
Committee As noted by the ALJ, Dady made numerous internal complaints about
hisinadequate crewingoncernsand followed up on them internallyjMuch to
Harley’s chagrinDadyevenmentioned his inadequat@koutconcerngo the
media® Harley’s managementas aware obady’sprevious officialreporting of
sewagerunoff and steerindailure violations andthuswas aware of Dady’s
propensity to file official reports. Dadytficial-reporting propensitgnd
persistence in addressing madequate crewingoncernsinternally andwith the
public, is substantial circumstantial evidence tHatley decisiormakersknew
that Dady hadfficially reported or would report thesues he had raised

Similarly, substantial evidenceuppors the Secretaris determinatiorthat
Dady’s protecte@ctivities were a contributing factor Dady’s discharge. Dady

worked for Harley for a little over three ysa Over the course of his employment

* Dady’s media contactsllowedanincident that did not involvelarleys boatsandwerenot

included in the stipulation of protected activity. But contrary to Harley's aegurthe ALJ did
not find that this constituted protected activity. Rather, the ALJ reasonddatiay’s
dissatisfaction with Dady’s complaints to the media about inadetpeieuts inthat situation
providedindirect evidence that Harley knew Dagdwgs, as stipulatedeportinghis concerns
aboutinadequatéookouts on Harle'g boatsto the Coast Guard, which contributed to his
discharge ALJ Decisiomat 3536, 41,HMS App. Vol. I.

8
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he engaged ia course oprotected activities, antheseactivitiesdrew animus
from Harleyofficials. For examplethe operations enginefar Harley’'s New
York operatiorexpressed displeasure that Dady had repdfte steering failure to
the Coast Guard, referring to him as “a pain in thé a@SHA Tr 46:15-24, HMS
App. Vol. lll. Also, otheremployees who reported problems wiateeled as being
“asbad as Dady Id. at 46:2447:3°>

It appears that the “last strawtcurredshortly beforehe allision, when
Dady discusad his inadequate lookogbncerns with thenedia Substantial
evidencesuppors the ALJ’s finding thatHarleyFranco or his sister Deborah
Francq Harley’stwo topranking executive, nearthe end of September, 2010,
conveyedheir displeasure arttieir desire to fireDadyregardinghis discussions
with the media The ALJ painstakingly details substang&idence thathe
allision investigation was a witchunt to support Dady precetermined
termination Under these factthe ALJreasonalyl concludedhat he allision a
month after theéhreatto fire Dady for his media contactsas simply the first
excuse Harley fountb terminate DadySimilarly, the ALJ reasonably concluded
that because Dady would not drop tiiswingconcerngbut rather was following
up on them internally, with th@edig and through official reportingHarley fired

him. While Dady’s going public with the concerns may have been the last straw,

® Harleymischaracterizes the “as bad as Dady” quip as “a complete red herring” relating to the

“mechanic’s group teasing Capt. Dady for having equipment breakdowns,” “notelstogting

activity.” HMS Reply Brieat 1617. The ALJ found that these statements related chiefly to
Dady’s reputation for reporting safety concerAkJ Decisiomat 50, HMS App. Vol. I)and ths

finding is supported by the recordLJ Tr. at 565:11-17, HMS Sup. Apto Reply Brief OSHA

Tr. 46:13-47:7, HMS App. Vol. 111).
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the ALJ reaonably concluded th&tady’s official reporting was another,
overlappingstraw in other words, it was a contributing factor.

Accordingly, sibstantial evidence suppottse ALJ’s conclusiothat Harley
knew that Dadyvasofficially reporting hisinadequate crewing concerns, and that
this knowledge was a contributing factor in Harley’s decision to fire Dady.

C. Harley’'s Asserted Independent Nondiscriminatory Reasons

It follows thatHarleydid not showby clear and convincing evidence that it
would have fired Dadgvenif he had not engaged in the stipulapedtected
activities. Aside from emphasizing the integrity of its own investigation in the face
of thenumerous shortcomingtetailed by the ALJ, Harley offers its internal
procedure manual and the termination of another tug captaisugpased
comparableemployeescenarigto provethat itwould have fired Dadyegardless
of his protected activitiesBut substantial evidence supports the ALfitgding that
Harley’s internal manual didot unambiguouly require Dady’s terminationAnd
theterminationof the other tug captain is easily distinguishatilat captain
actuallycaused a collisioand then liechbout itin his report Dady, on the other
hand, did notause the allisioand truthfully reported as soon as he kradout it
D. The Order of Reinstatement

Harley argues that the ALJ and ARB erred in ordebagy’sreinstatement
The ALJreasoned that reinstatement is a presumpérreedy under applicable

regulations and founthat the evidence presented at trial did not overdbiaie

10
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presumptiorf Because the remedy is presumptwel automatiove reject

Harley’'s contention that partywaives his right to reinstatement when he requests

as Dady didfront payinstead of reistatement Similarly, we rejectHarley’s due

process argument; becausestatemenis the presumptive remedidarleywas

on noticethatit hadto overcomehis presumption to prevent Dady’s reinstatement
V.

In conclusionHarley has failed tdemonstree that theSecretary’s
determinatior—thatHarleyterminatedDadyin violation of the SPA and that Dady
should be reinstatedwas“arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or
otherwise not in accordance with last’ “unsupported by substartevidence”

AFFIRMED.

®  The ALJ relied on regulations that were promulgated under the Surface Transportation

Assistance Act (STAA), apparently as applicable under 46 U.S.C. § 2114(b)’s intiorpofa
“procedures, requirements, and rights described@signatedections of the STAAALJ
Decisionat 45, HMS App. Vol. I. The ARB, on the other hand, relied omdveSPA
countepartregulation—29 C.F.R. 8§ 1986.109—promulgated as an interim rule in early 2013.
ARB Decisiorat 5, HMS App. Vol. I;seealso Procedures for the Handling of Retaliation
Complaints under the Employee Protection Provision of the Seaman’s Protection AGtaSPA)
Amended78 FR 8390 (February 6, 2013). The ARB decision didetmignizethat 29 C.F.R.

§ 1986.109 was not relied on by the ALJ and was not promulgated until aftefiBddys
complaint. RegardlessHarley did nothallengeon appeathat under theeregulations,
reinstatementvas Dady’spresumptiveaemedyin this action, anéven cite29 C.F.R.

§ 1986.109(d) as ctrolling, arguing that under these facts, reinstatement is not “appropriate”
within the meaning of the regulatianSee HMS Opening Briat 30;HMS Reply Brieat 2829.
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